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COMPLAINT FOR INJUNCTIVE AND OTHER EQillT ABLE RELIEF 

Plaintiff, the Federal Trade Commission ("FTC" or "Commission"), by its designated 

attorneys, petitions this Court, pursuant to Section 13(b) of the Federal Trade Commission Act 

(the "FTC Act"), 15 U.S.C. § 53(b), for a permanent injunction, rescission or reformation of 

contracts, and other equitable relief, including disgorgement of ill-gotten gains, against 

defendant, Cardinal Health, lnc. ("Cardinal"), to undo, redress, and prevent its unfair methods of 

competition, in or affecting commerce, in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C .. § 

45(a). 

NATURE OF THE CASE 

l. This action challenges Cardinal's illegal monopolization of the market for the sale 

and distribution of radiopharmaceuticals to hospitals and clinics in 25 geographic markets 

throughout the United States. Radiopharmaceuticals, which are distributed by 



Medical providers administer these drugs to patients to perfonn a variety of diagnostic imaging 

procedures. 

2. From 2003 to 2008 ("the relevant time period'} Bristol-Myers Squibb ("BMS") 

and Amersham pic, acquired in 2004 by General Electric Co. ("GE-Amersham"), were the only 

manufacturers of an essential input, heart perfusion agents ("HPAs"). During the relevant time 

period, a radiopharmacy could not profitably operate and compete in a local market without 

obtaining the right to distribute either Cardiolite (BMS's branded HPA) or Myoview (GE­

Amersham's branded HPA). 

3. Cardinal excluded potential entrants and maintained monopoly power in the 25 

geographic markets by obtaining the de facto exclusive right to distribute both BMS's and GE's 

HP As. These simultaneous exclusives did not enhance efficiency or otherwise serve 

procompetitive ends, but rather had the purpose and effect of insulating Cardinal's dmvnstream 

monopolies from competition. 

4. Throughout tl1e relevant time period, Cardinal employed various tactics to induce 

or coerce BMS and GE-Amersham, the only 



JURJSDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action ·pursuant to 15 U .S.C. 

§§ 45(a) and 53(b), and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337(a), and 1345. 

7. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Cardinal pursuant io 





) 

17. The relevant geographic markets for purposes of this Complaint are the following 

cities and their surrounding areas: 

1. Albany, New York 
2. Birmingham, Alabama 
3. Charlotte, North Carolina 
4. Chattanooga, Tennessee 
5. Columbia, South Carolina 
6. Gadsden, Alabama 
7. Gainesville, Florida 
8. Greensboro, North Carolina 
9. Huntington, West Virginia 
l 0. Indianapolis, Indiana 
11. Jackson, Mississippi 
12. Jacksonville, Florida 
13. Knoxville, Tennessee 



almost 60% of a typical radiophannacy' s revenue and were tl1erefore indispensable to ilie 

operation of a competitive and profitable radiophannacy. 

20. EMS and GE-Amersham were tl1e only manufacturers ofHPAs during ilie 

relevant tin1e period. Unlike EMS, GE-Amersham also' operated its mvn network of 

radiophannacies in numerous areas (oilier ilian ilie relevant markets), where it competed directly 

with Cardinal. Boili BMS and GE-Amersham employed distribution models iliat required 

radiophannacies seeking to distribute ilieir HP As in a geographic area to obtain a license to do so 

in iliat area. During ilie relevant tinJe period, an entrant ilierefore could not open a new 

radiophannacy in a given geographic area and achieve minimum viable scale at iliat location 

wiiliout first obtaining a license to distribute 
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22. As a result of the Syncor acquisition, Cardinal became EMS's largest Cardiolite 

distributor and the largest purchaser of other radiopharmaceutical inputs manufactured by BMS. 

23. By acquiring 



carried out plans to facilitate entry, Cardinal would have to lower its prices to meet the new 

competition. 

27. ln 2003, Cardinal secured, and thereafter maintained, de facto exclusive rights to 

distribute GE-Amersham 's Myoview in the relevant markets in which Cardinal was the sole 

radiopharmacy. 

28. llrroughout the relevant time period, Cardinal assured GE-Amersham that 

Cardinal would be "product neutral" in its dealings with customers and refrain from engaging in 

promotional efforts with respect to Cardiolite as long as GE-Amersham did not license new 

entrants in the relevant markets. Cardinal also threatened GE-Amersham with various forms of 

retaliation if GE-Amersham did license potential entrants. 

29. For example, Cardinal warned GE-Amersham that their current and future 

product relationships in the radiopharmaceutical industry were contingent upon GE-Amersham's 

maintenance of Cardinal's de facto exclusive Myoview rights. 

30. As a result of Caroinal 's inducements and threats, GE-Amersham continued to 

treat Cardinal's markets as de facto exclusive and denied Myoview rights to numerous 

radiopharmacy operators that sought to enter the relevant mark21_0 7 025.970084 TBMS0 11.5 212.28 475.93 Tm
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32. For example, Cardinal threatened to convert Cardinal's 



cancellations and shifts unless BMS abandoned its open channel strategy. Cardinal also 

conditioned its future purchases of inputs from BMS on BMS ceasing to license new distributors. 

Cardinal's cancellation and conditioning of input purchases were not undertaken for legitimate 

business reasons, such as to lower its costs. 

38. Beginning in July 2004 and continuing into 2007, Cardinal also repeatedly offered 

BMS the prospect of averting future competition from Cardinal's generic version ofCardiolite in 

exchange for exclusivity on Cardiolite distribution prior to the product's patent expiration. 

Under the arrangement discussed by Cardinal and BMS, Cardinal would forgo launching or 

manufacturing its ovm generic upon Cardiolite's patent expiration in 2008 and exclusively 

purchase generic Cardiolite from BMS. ln return, Cardinal required that BMS abandon or 

severely limit its strategy oflicensing Cardiolite to potential 01 Tf8 Tc
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this entire five-year period. These potential entrants-rival radiopharmacies-would have 

competed directly with Cardinal at lower prices but for Cardinal's exclusionary conduct. 

Cardinal's scheme therefore prevented or delayed competitive entry in each of the relevant 

markets for varying periods of time. 

42. GE-Amersham refused to grant Myoview rights to numerous potential entrants in 

Cardinal monopoly markets that would have promoted and increased Myoview sales in these 

markets. GE-Amersham maintained Cardinal's exclusive rights to Myoview even in markets 

where Cardinal's Myoview sales declined or Cardinal failed to make any Myoview sales at all. 

43. Similarly, because of Cardinal's conduct, BMS twice abandoned its chosen and 

preferred strategy of widely expanding its distribution network for Cardiolite. 

44. As a result of the cumulative acts engaged in by Cardinal as described herein, 

Cardinal acquired, maintained, and exercised monopoly power in each of the 25 monopoly 

markets for varying periods of time. 

45. Cardinal's scheme injured its customers, consisting of hospitals and clinics 

located in these markets. As compared to customers in competitive markets, Cardinal's 

customers in the 25 monopoly markets paid higher prices. 

46. Cardinal substantially profited from its anti competitive conduct and collected 

millions of dollars in ill-gotten gains by charging higher prices and excluding lower-priced 

competitors from the 25 monopoly markets. 

47. Throughout the relevant time period, Cardinal had no procompetitive business 

rationale or efficiency justifications for maintaining de facto exclusive rights to distribute the 

only two HPAs. To the contrary, Cardinal provided little to no promotional support for either 

11 



1-JPA in its monopoly markets. Cardinal's overlapping exclusives served only to decrease inter­

brand HPA competition and to eliminate local radiopharmacy competition. 

48. Cardinal's monopolization scheme was finally thwarted by BMS's sale of the 

Cardiolite brand to Lantheus in early 2008. Upon acquiring the Cardiolite brand, Lantheus · 

opened access to Cardiolite to radiopharmaceutical competitors around the country in mid-

February 2008. 

49. Though Lantheus's opening ofCardiolite access in early 2008 resulted in 

competitive entry in a nuniber of Cardinal's monopoly markets, the anti competitive effects of 

Cardinal's conduct have not been fully dissipated in all of the affected markets. Specifically, 

Cardinal remains the sole or dominant r!ldiopharmacy in six markets: Gainesville, Florida, 

Lexington, Kentucky, Spokane, Washington, Knoxville, Tennessee, Little Rock, Arkansas, and 

the Omaha-Lincoln, Nebraska metropolitan area. ln the absence of Cardinal's conduct, tl1ese six 

markets would likely be two-finn competitive markets today. 

50. 1lrrough this action, the Commission seeks injunctive relief, including 

disgorgement, to remedy the injury caused by Cardinal's conduct, to restore competition, and to 

prevent the recurrence of future violations. 

VIOLATION ALLEGED 

51. Cardinal willfully engaged in anti competitive and exclusionary acts and practices 

to acquire, enhance, or maintain its monopoly power in the market for the sale and distribution of 

radiopharmaceuticals in the 25 geographic markets alleged herein for various periods of time 

between 2003 and 2008. The acts and practices of Cardinal, as alleged herein, constitute 

monopolization and unfair methods of competition in or affecting commerce in violation of 

Section 5 of the FTC Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. § 45. 

12 
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Federal Trade Commission 
One Bowling Green, Suite 318 
New York, NY 10004 
(212) 607-2827 
wefron@ftc.gov 
jplatt@ftc.gov 


